Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-9-2018

State v. Matthews Appellant's Brief Dckt. 45295

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Ryan Kelly Matthews was sentenced to a unified term of seven years, with three years fixed, after he pled guilty to possession of a controlled substance. He contends the district court abused its discretion when it imposed this sentence upon him considering the mitigating factors that exist in this case.

Statement of Facts & Course of Proceedings

Mr. Matthews was booked into Ada County Jail on May 6, 2016, after being arrested on an agent's warrant. (R., p.170; Tr., p.34, Ls.6-9, p.38, Ls.11-14.) During the booking process,

two plastic baggies containing methamphetamine were found in Mr. Matthews' pocket. (Presentence Investigation Report ("PSI"), p.4.) Mr. Matthews was charged by Information with possession of a controlled substance. (R., pp.123-24.) He filed a motion to suppress, which the district court denied. (R., pp.141-51, 167-68.) Following the denial of his motion to suppress, Mr. Matthews entered into an agreement with the State pursuant to which he agreed to plead guilty, and the State agreed not to pursue a persistent violator enhancement. (R., pp.180-82; Tr., p.51, Ls.18-23.) The district court accepted Mr. Matthews' guilty plea. (Tr., p.61, Ls.12-14.)

At sentencing, the prosecutor recommended a unified sentence of seven years, with three years fixed. (Tr., p.65, Ls.2-7.) Counsel for Mr. Matthews recommended a sentence of five years, with one year fixed, with the district court retaining jurisdiction. (Tr., p.73, Ls.1-7.) The district court sentenced Mr. Matthews to seven years, with three years fixed, and did not retain jurisdiction. (Tr., p.77, Ls.18-23; R., p.184.) The district court ordered Mr. Matthews to pay \$285.50 in court costs, and \$200.00 restitution pursuant to Idaho Code § 37-2732(k) for the laboratory testing of the methamphetamine. (R., pp.186-88, 192; Tr., p.77, Ls.23-24.) The district court did not order Mr. Matthews to pay restitution for the costs of prosecution. (Tr., p.77, Ls.15-17; R., pp.186-88.)

The judgement of conviction was entered on July 3, 2017, and Mr. Matthews filed a timely notice of appeal on July 28, 2017. (R., pp.191-202.) The State filed a notice of cross-appeal on August 15, 2017. (R., pp.226-33.) On August 28, 2017, Mr. Matthews filed a motion

pursuant to Idaho Criminal Rule 35 ("Rule 35") for a reduction of sentence. (R., pp.234-37.) The district court denied Mr. Matthews' Rule 35 motion.¹ (R., pp.256-28.)

ISSUE

Did the district court abuse its discretion when it imposed upon Mr. Matthews a unified sentence of seven years, with three years fixed, considering the mitigating factors that exist in this case?

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

Considering The Mitigating Factors That Exist In This Case, The District Court Abused Its Discretion When It Imposed Upon Mr. Matthews A Unified Sentence Of Seven Years, With Three Years Fixed

Mr. Matthews asserts that, given any view of the facts, his unified sentence of seven years, with three years fixed, is excessive. Where, as here, the sentence imposed by the district court is within statutory limits, "the appellant bears the burden of demonstrating that it is a clear abuse of discretion." *State v. Miller*, 151 Idaho 828, 834 (2011) (quoting *State v. Windom*, 150 Idaho 873, 875 (2011)). "When a trial court exercises its discretion in sentencing, 'the most fundamental requirement is reasonableness." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Hooper*, 119 Idaho 606, 608 (1991)). "A sentence is reasonable if it appears necessary to accomplish the primary objective of protecting society and to achieve any or all of the related goals of deterrence, rehabilitation or retribution." *Id.* (citation omitted). "When reviewing the reasonableness of a sentence this Court will make an independent examination of the record, 'having regard to the nature of the offense, the character of the offender and the protection of the public interest." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Shideler*, 103 Idaho 593, 594 (1982)).

¹ Mr. Matthews does not challenge the district court's denial of his Rule 35 motion on appeal in light of *State v. Huffman*, 144 Idaho 201, 203 (2007).

The sentence the district court imposed upon Mr. Matthews was not reasonable considering the nature of his offense and his character, and was not necessary to protect the public interest. Mr. Matthews was convicted of possession of controlled substance, after methamphetamine was found in his pocket when he was being booked into county jail. (PSI, p.4.) Mr. Matthews admitted to knowingly and willingly possessing the methamphetamine during the change of plea hearing. (Tr., p.60, Ls.3-6.) Mr. Matthews is addicted to drugs, and needs help for his addiction, not a term of incarceration.

The sentence imposed upon Mr. Matthews' was also not reasonable considering his character. Mr. Matthews' mother sent a letter to the district court requesting leniency and stating her son "is worth saving." (PSI, p.22.) Mr. Matthews' sister asked the district court to provide her brother with structured, intensive substance abuse treatment so he can "have the opportunity to be successful." (PSI, p.23.) She asked the district court to "[p]lease take in consideration that Ryan has an addiction that is waiting to be addressed." (PSI, p.23.) Mr. Matthews' grandmother told the district court that "Ryan is a good person with an addiction that is bigger than he is." (PSI, p.24.) She asked for her grandson to "receive the help he needs, to become the good man that I know he can be." (PSI, p.24.) Mr. Matthews' niece, wife, and mother-in-law also submitted character references to the district court, and Mr. Matthews' mother-in-law said Mr. Matthews had worked for her in the past, and had a job waiting for him on release. (PSI, pp.25-28.) By all accounts, Mr. Matthews is a good person struggling with a serious addiction, not a hardened criminal. At the very least, the district court should have retained jurisdiction and allowed Mr. Matthews the opportunity to participate in a rider program.

The sentence imposed upon Mr. Matthews was not necessary to protect the public interest. Mr. Mathews was found to be in possession of a small quantity of illegal drugs when he

was being booked into jail for absconding parole. (PSI, p.3.) Mr. Matthews was not violent and

posed no risk to the public in this case. In fact, he was arrested when he was sound asleep and

did not resist arrest. (Tr., p.39, L.20 – p.40, L.7.) In light of the mitigating factors that exist in

this case, and notwithstanding the aggravating factors, the district court abused its discretion

when it sentenced Mr. Matthews to a unified term of seven years, with three years fixed, and

should have imposed a shorter term of incarceration and retained jurisdiction.

CONCLUSION

Mr. Matthews respectfully requests that this Court reduce his sentence as it deems

appropriate. Alternatively, he requests that this Court remand this case to the district court for a

new sentencing hearing.