Uldaho Law

## Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

---

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

---

4-5-2018

### State v. Matthews Respondent's Brief Dckt. 45295

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### Nature Of The Case

Ryan Kelly Matthews appeals his unified sentence of seven years, with three years fixed, imposed by the district court after he pled guilty to felony possession of a controlled substance. Matthews argues the district court imposed an excessive sentence.

The state cross-appeals the district court's decision on restitution. The district court abused its discretion when it refused to require Matthews to pay the restitution requested by the state on the sole basis that it would infringe Matthews's constitutional rights.

### Statement Of The Facts And Course Of The Proceedings

On May 6, 2016, officers arrested Ryan Kelly Matthews pursuant to an arrest warrant. (R., p.170.) As part of the intake procedure at the jail, an officer conducted a pat down search of Matthews and found "2 clear plastic baggies which contained a white crystalline substance that NIK tested positive for Methamphetamine." (PSI, p.3.) The drugs were located in Matthews's front right pocket. (PSI, p.4.) The state charged Matthews with felony possession of a controlled substance. (R., pp.12-13, 123-24.)

Matthews moved to suppress the drug evidence. (R., pp.79-81, 141.) After holding a hearing on Matthews's motion to suppress, the district court denied it. (R., pp.169-71.) Shortly thereafter, Matthews changed his plea to guilty. (R., p.180.) At the change of plea hearing, Matthews's counsel informed the district court of the agreement reached with the state:

Your Honor, this is going to be quite straightforward, as far as a plea goes. This is simply to possessing a controlled substance. It's going to be open recommendations. There will be no Information Part II.

The State has made it very clear that they are going to be asking for the cost of prosecution in this case. It's somewhere in the three to \$500 range. And that - -

*Mr. Matthews would agree to that.* Beyond that, Your Honor, that's the extent to [sic] the agreement in this case.

(5/5/2017 Tr., p.51, L.18 – p.52, L.5 (emphasis added).)

At Matthews's sentencing hearing, consistent with the agreement, the state requested that the district court order Matthews to pay \$524.12 "for the prosecution costs in this case" and an additional \$200 "for the testing of drugs." (6/30/2017 Tr., p.65, Ls.8-11.) Matthews's counsel stated he had no objection to the \$200 for the drug testing but did not mention the other \$524.12 for the cost of prosecution. (6/30/2017 Tr., p.70, Ls.6-9.) The district court refused to impose restitution for the \$524.12:

THE COURT: So one thing that you said in the presentence report that I agree with - - and I wrote this down. This is a quote from you. You said, "My only concern with my plea bargain is that I have to pay three to \$500 for having a hearing to suppress evidence. I would rather have to pay court costs than have to pay for exercising my constitutional right."

And that jumped out to me because I agree with you on that. I am not going to impose the restitution that you agreed to, frankly, for prosecution costs in the amount of \$524.12.

(6/30/2017 Tr., p.77, Ls.6-17.) The district court imposed a unified sentence of seven years, with three years fixed. (R., pp., 191-94.)

Matthews filed a notice of appeal timely from the judgment of conviction. (R., pp.195-98.) The state timely cross-appealed the decision on restitution. (R., pp.226-29.)

## ISSUES

Matthews states the issue on appeal as:

Did the district court abuse its discretion when it imposed upon Mr. Matthews a unified sentence of seven years, with three years fixed, considering the mitigating factors that exist in this case?

(Appellant's brief, p.3)

The state rephrases the issue on appeal as:

Has Matthews failed to establish that the district court abused its discretion by imposing a unified sentence of seven years, with three years fixed, upon his guilty plea to felony possession of a controlled substance?

The issue on cross-appeal is:

Did the district court abuse its discretion when it refused to order payment of the prosecution costs requested by the state on the sole basis that doing so would infringe Matthews's constitutional rights?

## ARGUMENT ON APPEAL

### Matthews Has Failed To Establish That The District Court Abused Its Sentencing Discretion

#### A. Introduction

Matthews asserts the sentence imposed by the district court is excessive in light of the nature of his offense and his character and argues his sentence was not necessary to protect the public interest. (Appellant's brief, pp.3-5.) The record supports the sentence imposed.

#### B. Standard Of Review

When evaluating whether a sentence is excessive, the court considers the entire length of the sentence under an abuse of discretion standard. State v. McIntosh, 160 Idaho 1, 8, 368 P.3d 621, 628 (2016); State v. Stevens, 146 Idaho 139, 148, 191 P.3d 217, 226 (2008).

#### C. The District Court Did Not Abuse Its Sentencing Discretion

The district court did not abuse its discretion when it imposed a unified seven-year sentence, with three years fixed. It is presumed that the fixed portion of the sentence will be the defendant's probable term of confinement. State v. Oliver, 144 Idaho 722, 726, 170 P.3d 687, 391 (2007). Where a sentence is within statutory limits, the appellant bears the burden of demonstrating that it is a clear abuse of discretion. McIntosh, 160 Idaho at 8, 368 P.3d at 628 (citations omitted). To carry this burden the appellant must show the sentence is excessive under any reasonable view of the facts. Id. A sentence is reasonable if it appears necessary to accomplish the primary objective of protecting society and to achieve any or all of the related goals of deterrence, rehabilitation, or retribution. Id. The district court has the discretion to weigh those objectives and give them differing weights when deciding upon the sentence. Id. at 9, 368 P.3d at 629; State v. Moore, 131 Idaho 814, 825, 965 P.2d 174, 185 (1998) (court did not abuse its

discretion in concluding that the objectives of punishment, deterrence and protection of society outweighed the need for rehabilitation). “In deference to the trial judge, this Court will not substitute its view of a reasonable sentence where reasonable minds might differ.” McIntosh, 160 Idaho at 8, 368 P.3d at 628 (quoting Stevens, 146 Idaho at 148-49, 191 P.3d at 226-27). Furthermore, “[a] sentence fixed within the limits prescribed by the statute will ordinarily not be considered an abuse of discretion by the trial court.” Id. (quoting State v. Nice, 103 Idaho 89, 90, 645 P.2d 323, 324 (1982)).

As the district court explained to Matthews before he pled guilty (5/5/2017 Tr., p.56, L.20 – p.57, L.7), the maximum prison sentence for one count of felony possession of a controlled substance is seven years and a \$15,000 fine, I.C. § 37-2732(c). The district court imposed a unified sentence of seven years, with three years fixed, which falls within the statutory limit. (R., pp.191-94.) Furthermore, Matthews’s sentence is appropriate in light of his criminal record, which shows his disregard for the law and the well-being of others. Matthews has three prior felony convictions, including two convictions for violent crimes. Specifically, he has two convictions for aggravated assault and one conviction for passing counterfeit Federal Reserve notes. (PSI, pp.4-6.)

Matthews also has a proven inability to comply with court-ordered supervision. He has been found in violation of probation on three different occasions. (Id.) And the officers arrested Matthews in this case because he had absconded his parole supervision. (R., p.170.) As Matthews’s parole officer explained: “Ryan Matthews has shown to have no interest in abiding by the rules of community supervision. He avoids supervision and is not receptive to attempts to hold him accountable for his actions. I believe he poses a distinct threat to the community and that he should spend the rest of his sentence in a secure facility.” (PSI, p.7.)

Matthews's claim that he "posed no risk to the public in this case" is contradicted by the record. (Appellant's brief, p.5.) One of the officers who arrested Matthews testified that they found Matthews after the woman Matthews had been living with called the police. (4/17/2017 Tr., p.34, L.16 – p.36, L.23.) "[S]he was concerned for her safety and the safety of her children" because "Mr. Matthews was staying at her residence and bringing in some unsavory characters to her house, and [she] suspected that he was also using narcotics." (4/17/2017 Tr., p.35, Ls.2-8.)

At sentencing, the state addressed Matthews's criminal history and the danger he posed to other members of society. (6/30/2017 Tr., p.65, L.2 – p.70, L.2 (Appendix A).) After considering the relevant information, the district court properly imposed a unified sentence of seven years, with three years fixed. (R., pp.191-94.) The state submits that Matthews has failed to establish an abuse of discretion, for reasons more fully set forth in the attached excerpt of the sentencing hearing transcript, which the state adopts in support of its argument on appeal. (Appendix A.)

## ARGUMENT ON CROSS-APPEAL

### The District Court Abused Its Discretion When It Refused To Order The Restitution Requested By The State

#### A. Introduction

The district court refused to require Matthews to pay \$524.12 for prosecution costs as requested by the state based solely on a legal rationale that is inconsistent with this Court's precedent. That constitutes an abuse of discretion.

#### B. Standard Of Review

A district court's decision whether to order restitution is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. State v. Kelley, 161 Idaho 686, 691, 390 P.3d 412, 417 (2017). A district court abuses its discretion when it does not act "consistently with relevant legal standards." Id.

#### C. The District Court Abused Its Discretion When It Decided Not To Require Matthews To Pay The \$524.12 In Prosecution Costs Requested By The State

Idaho law allows a district court, "[u]pon conviction of a felony or misdemeanor violation of the Uniform Controlled Substances Act," to "order restitution for costs incurred by law enforcement agencies in investigating the violation." I.C. § 37-2732(k). "By its plain terms, restitution under section 37-2732(k) is discretionary, as it states that 'the court may order restitution[.]'" State v. Kelley, 161 Idaho 686, 691, 390 P.3d 412, 417 (2017) (brackets in original). But in deciding whether to award restitution and in what amount, the district court must act "consistently with the relevant legal standards." Id.; see State v. Cardoza, 155 Idaho 889, 895, 318 P.3d 658, 664 (Ct. App. 2014) (vacating restitution decision because "[t]he district court erred by concluding that I.C. § 37-2732(k) did not authorize restitution for the prosecutor's salary for time expended on this case").

The district court abused its restitution discretion here by acting inconsistently with the relevant legal standards—namely, Idaho Supreme Court precedent. Despite acknowledging that Matthews had agreed to pay the \$524.12 restitution amount, the district court did not require Matthews to pay it. (6/30/2017 Tr., p.77, Ls.6-17.) The only rationale expressed by the district court for this decision was that it agreed with Matthews’s statement that ““I would rather have to pay court costs than have to pay for exercising my constitutional right.”” (Id.) The district court’s refusal to impose the agreed-upon restitution on the sole basis that it would encroach on Matthews’s constitutional rights—presumably because it would require Matthews “to pay for exercising [his] constitutional right” to defend himself (id.)—is inconsistent with this Court’s precedent. See Kelley, 161 Idaho at 689-91, 390 P.3d at 415-17.

In Kelley, this Court addressed whether § 37-2732(k) violated the Sixth Amendment rights to stand trial and present a defense. 161 Idaho at 689, 390 P.3d at 415. The defendant argued, consistent with the district court’s rationale in the case at hand, that ““[k]nowing he will be required to pay for each stage of the process will necessarily result in a chilling effect upon the assertion of his rights.”” Kelley, 161 Idaho at 690, 390 P.3d at 416. This Court’s response was clear: “We disagree.” Id. Specifically, this Court held that “section 37-2732(k) does not impermissibly chill Sixth Amendment rights to stand trial and present a defense.” Kelley, 161 Idaho at 691, 390 P.3d at 417.

The district court’s refusal to impose on Matthews the requested restitution costs on the sole basis that it would infringe his constitutional rights cannot be reconciled with this Court upholding § 37-2732(k) as constitutional in Kelley. The district court thus abused its discretion. See State v. Ehrlick, 158 Idaho 900, 910, 354 P.3d 462, 472 (2014) (holding district court abused its discretion where its decision was inconsistent with Idaho Supreme Court precedent). Because

the district court erred in concluding the agreed-upon restitution would infringe Matthews's constitutional rights, "this matter must be remanded for the district court to reconsider the State's restitution request." Cardoza, 155 Idaho at 895, 318 P.3d at 664.

CONCLUSION

The state respectfully requests that this Court affirm Matthews's sentence, vacate the district court's order of restitution, and remand the case to the district court to reconsider the amount Matthews must pay in restitution.